COPY

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

ZEFERINO ESPINOZA, Jr.,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S224929

SUPREME COURT FILED

JUN 2 3 2015

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

Sixth Appellate District, Case No. H039219
Santa Clara County Superior Court, Case No. CC954850
The Honorable Paul Bernal, Judge

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ISSUES

- 1. Whether a voluntary and intentional absence of a self-represented defendant forfeits trial rights otherwise afforded by the defendant's presence and authorizes continued trial, without a knowing and intelligent advanced waiver of the rights.
- 2. Whether granting defendant's motion for self-representation without continuing jury selection for one day was an abuse of discretion.

INTRODUCTION

Appellant was charged with multiple felonies. He sought and received numerous continuances of trial and substitutions of appointed counsel, resulting in over two years of delay. During jury selection, he knowingly and voluntarily waived his right to counsel after being expressly admonished by the court that further continuances would not be granted. He represented himself during the prosecution's case later that day. The next day, he failed to appear as ordered, causing a further delay of trial. Extensive efforts to contact appellant failed. Invoking Penal Code section 1043, the trial court found that appellant voluntarily and knowingly absented himself to avoid trial and punishment. Trial concluded in appellant's absence with the jury's return of mixed verdicts.

Before sentencing, appellant reappeared with new retained counsel and later filed a motion for a new trial to challenge the trial held in absentia. The court ultimately rejected his claim and sentenced him to prison.

The resumption of jury trial following appellant's voluntary and intentional abandonment of the trial was proper. Following a knowing and voluntary waiver of counsel, a pro se defendant's voluntary abandonment of trial forfeits constitutional trial rights of an accused to personal presence, confrontation of adverse witnesses, and the presentation of a defense through counsel, until such time as the defendant personally exercises those

rights in the trial itself. As a result, and contrary to the decision of the Court of Appeal below, a court's failure to admonish a pro se defendant sua sponte about the potential for trial in absentia, or its failure to sua sponte appoint a standby or former counsel, where a pro se defendant voluntarily absconds, affords the defendant no basis for a new trial.

Additionally, the trial court did not abuse its discretion by accepting appellant's voluntary and knowing waiver of counsel while refusing a midtrial continuance.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Charges

A December 2009 information charged appellant with possession of a controlled substance (Health & Saf. Code, § 11350, subd. (a)), possession of a controlled substance without a prescription (Health & Saf. Code, § 11375, subd. (b)(2)), possession of marijuana (Health & Saf. Code, § 11357, subd. (b)), making a criminal threat (Pen. Code, § 422), possession of a firearm as a felon (two counts) (former Pen. Code, § 12021, subd. (a)(1)), possession of ammunition as a felon (former Pen. Code, § 12316, subd. (b)(1)), and attempting to dissuade a witness by use or threat of force (Pen. Code, § 136.1, subd. (c)(1)). (1 CT 83-86.)

B. Pretrial Proceedings

During pretrial proceedings that consumed over two years, the trial court appointed seven public defenders, who made some 65 appearances on appellant's behalf. (10 RT 322, 401.) According to the court, the case was set for trial "maybe 50 times." It granted the continuances to accommodate appellant personally, not his defense attorneys. (10 RT 399.)

Four different times, appellant moved for a substitution of appointed counsel under *People v. Marsden* (1970) 2 Cal.3d 118 (*Marsden*). (1 CT 98, 229, 242, 247.) The court held hearings on appellant's *Marsden*

motions, and the transcripts of the hearings were unsealed by the trial court. (13 RT 1014-1015.) During the hearings, appellant exhibited obstreperous and unruly behavior, made unsubstantiated claims about a romantic relationship between the investigating officer and a witness, repeatedly called his attorney a liar, denied discovery in his possession had been received, and feigned ignorance of the proceedings. (See 10 RT 383-384, 389, 393-403, 416-417, 460-463.) To facilitate communications, the trial court ultimately ordered appellant and his attorney to confer daily. (10 RT 430-431.)

On April 17, 2012, about a week before trial, appellant moved to represent himself pursuant to *Faretta v. California* (1975) 422 U.S. 806 (*Faretta*). As part of his motion, appellant requested a minimum continuance of three weeks for trial preparation, asserting that he had been "kept in the dark for the past three years." (10 RT 319-322.) At a hearing, the trial court found appellant was attempting to "manipulate the court system" through the *Faretta* motion, admonishing him, "if you truly wanted to represent yourself you could have brought that motion any time in the last few years in this case." (10 RT 324.)

The following day, April 18, 2012, appellant's attorney, Mark Camperi, announced the defense's readiness for trial. (10 RT 358.)

However, appellant again requested self-representation and a continuance. (10 RT 358.) The court denied the motions, stating that the case had been "rattling around the courthouse . . . and it's not for any lack of effort on the part of the D.A. or the public defender." (10 RT 358; see also 10 RT 427 [court characterizes the motions as a "delay tactic"].)

C. Appellant Waives Counsel, but Voluntarily and Intentionally Absconds When Ordered to Appear the Next Day for Further Trial

Jury selection began on April 23, 2012, and continued through the following day. On April 24, 2012, appellant again moved to dismiss his attorney under *Marsden* and to represent himself under *Faretta*. (10 RT 454-483.) At a hearing, the court found appellant was making false statements, and admonished him not to "make things up to justify your goal." (10 RT 469; see also 10 RT 471 [court orders: "don't be lying to me," "please stop lying"], 10 RT 473 [court finds appellant is "being obstreperous for the purpose of playing the system"].) The court denied appellant's *Marsden* motion. Appellant requested self-representation, and asked for cocounsel. (10 RT 476.) The court denied appellant's request for cocounsel, at which point appellant requested two additional weeks to prepare for trial on his own. (10 RT 476-477.) The court told appellant that the fact he would need such a continuance if he were granted self-representation was the reason why he was not being permitted to represent himself. (10 RT 476-477.) Moments later, the court told appellant that it

(continued...)

¹ The colloquy is as follows:

THE DEFENDANT: I don't mean to disrespect the courts at all. I'm trying to get some questions here. How come I can't get another attorney or how come I cannot fire him so I can go pro per.

THE COURT: You can, if you are ready to proceed to trial without him you can do it.

THE DEFENDANT: Well, I need a co-counsel then.

THE COURT: You are not permitted to have co-counsel.

would give him a fair trial and reiterated that it would permit him to represent himself only if he was "ready to go to trial now." (10 RT 480.) The court told appellant that he had two options: (1) trial with counsel, or (2) self-representation without a continuance. The court stressed, "I can't continue this case." (10 RT 480.)

Appellant stated, "I will represent myself, your Honor." (10 RT 480.) The court gave appellant a *Faretta* waiver form, and admonished him:

THE COURT: Okay. Mr. Espinoza, I want to make it clear if you represent yourself you are not going to get any special treatment. You are not going to get any continuance unless they are reasonable requests, which given the time frame we've given to the jurors we need to move forward with the case. I'm not going to be extending it beyond that time limit I gave to the jurors. You need to get your own witnesses here without anybody's assistance. If you can't find them or locate them, if they don't agree to come in, if they're late because their bus didn't pick them up we're going without them. So I want to make sure you understand that.

When you represent yourself you do it on your own. You don't get any assistance. You are not going to get co-counsel. You don't get any special favors. You are expected to be treated just as the D.A. is treated. You don't get any breaks because you don't know the law or how to proceed in a trial. You don't get to file an appeal saying that you had ineffective assistance of counsel because this is your choice.

^{(...}continued)

THE DEFENDANT: I am requesting that when I go pro per because I won't be ready like tomorrow. It will take me two weeks.

THE COURT: And that's why you can't have Mr. Camperi taken off the case.

⁽¹⁰ RT 476-477.)

So I know you are a little hot under the collar. You might want to take a few minutes to decide, reflect on it. Whatever you want is fine with me. Read over the *Faretta* form, take your time, let me know what you think. There is no shame in saying I want [counsel]. There is no shame in saying I want to represent myself. Okay?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, your Honor.

THE COURT: So think about it, take your time and do what you think is best.

THE DEFENDANT: Okay. Thank you, your Honor. (10 RT 481-482.)

The court provided 40 minutes for appellant to review the form concerning self-representation. (10 RT 485.) When proceedings resumed, appellant told the court that he had filled out the form "to the best of [his] knowledge." (10 RT 485.) The court responded: "You either understood the form or you didn't. Don't say to the best of my ability. I don't play games." (10 RT 485.) Appellant asked, "Can I read it a little bit more, your Honor?" The court agreed to the request: "So go ahead and look at it and I want to make sure you understand what you're doing." (10 RT 485.) This colloquy followed:

THE DEFENDANT: Okay. Your Honor, can I ask a question?

THE COURT: Of course, you can.

THE DEFENDANT: Me taking the case today can I at least get a continuance to tomorrow?

THE COURT: No.

THE DEFENDANT: Just to get everything, because he's going to hand over the files, your Honor. Is that how—or am I not entitled to it?

THE COURT: You have a copy of the file.

THE DEFENDANT: No, but I'm asking whatever else they may have that I don't have.

THE COURT: You are not entitled to internal memorandums about how difficult you are, you don't get that.

THE DEFENDANT: No, I'm asking about statements and videos, am I entitled to that stuff, your Honor?

THE COURT: Yes, you are. You will get a copy of all the discovery in this case which you already have.

MR. CAMPERI: And, your Honor, I can assure the court I will go back and look to see if there is anything that I am unaware of at this time and I'll bring it right over if there is something I am unaware of at this time.

THE COURT: Thank you.

(10 RT 485-486, italics added.)

The court discussed with appellant the potential penalties in the event that he was convicted on the charges. (10 RT 487.) The court answered affirmatively when appellant asked if he would be able to contact all witnesses and talk to the prosecutor. (10 RT 487.) Appellant told the court that he understood the *Faretta* waiver form. (10 RT 487.) The form stated that appellant had the right to confront the witnesses against him. (1 CT 251.) The court orally admonished appellant concerning the *Faretta* waiver of counsel, as follows:

THE COURT: Do you understand you may not be able to change your mind, or if you do change your mind the court doesn't have to accept your change of mind? Mr. Camperi is not going to be coming back. You are not going to get co-counsel, side counsel, assisted counsel or any kind of counsel. Mr. Camperi does not have to take your calls or answer any of your questions because there's no attorney/client relationship anymore. Do you understand all of that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: And are you willing to go to trial representing yourself?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Very good. So if you can lodge that with madam clerk.

(10 RT 487-488.)

The court returned the *Faretta* form to appellant. After an unreported discussion between the parties, the court made the following observations:

THE COURT: At times Mr. Espinoza has pretended not to know what's going on. And that he's unfamiliar with the case, but it's clear from his discussions with the court and counsel that he knows more about the case than everybody else.

He's been working on this case since September 3rd, 2009. He has been controlling the direction of the case by having the public defender's office do many things which they thought in their professional legal opinions was unnecessary, but they did them nonetheless.

The defendant has also been controlling the discovery associated with this case. The court believes that the defendant has been working the system as part of a delay tactic and/or his inability to accept reasonable tactical decisions of his various attorneys. And that he is not put into jeopardy by representing himself, because he is prepared to handle this case more so than his attorneys, according to Mr. Espinoza. And under the law even if he is not going to do as good a job as his attorney would have done, that is Mr. Espinoza's choice and he does so willingly.

(10 RT 492-493.)

The court and appellant then engaged in this colloquy:

[THE COURT:] I am now reviewing the petition to proceed in propria persona. On the parts which I put the little arrows in pencil you now put your initials in them, did you read and understand all of those sections?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Are these your initials throughout the document?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Do you have any questions for me about this document, your rights, your obligations, the consequences, and your decision?

THE DEFENDANT: Do I have a question? No.

THE COURT: Very good. Then I will accept this and we will file it with madam clerk.

THE DEFENDANT: Thank you, your Honor. (10 RT 493-494.)

Trial proceeded on April 24, 2012, with the completion of voir dire and the swearing of the jury. (10 RT 494.) The prosecutor gave an opening statement. Appellant declined to give one. (10 RT 510.) The prosecution called witness Gonzalez. Appellant made only one objection to the prosecutor's direct examination and declined cross-examination of the witness. (10 RT 517.) At the conclusion of Mr. Gonzalez's testimony, the court dismissed the jury for the day. (10 RT 529.) The trial court ordered appellant to appear in court at 8:45 a.m. the following morning. (10 RT 529; 11 RT 606.)

Appellant failed to appear in court when trial resumed the following morning on April 25, 2012. At 9:00 a.m., the court and prosecutor attempted to contact appellant. (11 RT 606.) At 10:00 a.m., the court dismissed the jury until the next morning and ordered a body attachment for appellant. (11 RT 606.)

The next day, April 26, 2012, the court reconvened at 8:50 a.m. Appellant again failed to appear. The court made the following statement:

[T]he court is making a finding under Penal Code section 1043 that the defendant has voluntarily absented himself from this trial. The court finds that he knowingly absented himself.

The court finds that he abandoned this trial purposefully and that the purpose for which he chose to not come to trial was evasion of the trial or avoiding penalty for the alleged crimes that he allegedly committed or another delay tactic with the defendant perhaps believing that if he didn't show up to trial that the court would terminate this jury trial, send the jurors home and then when he comes in in a month he would try to delay the trial again for another three years.

The court has read and considered *People v. Connolly* [(1973)] 36 Cal.App.3d 379 at 385 [(*Connolly*)]. The court finds that prior to the defendant disappearing every day that the court was scheduled, both for in limine proceedings, his *Marsden* proceedings, of which there were many, and for the trial schedule that Mr. Espinoza was always at court either before or at 8:45 a.m., that he always was accompanied with his girlfriend whose name is Anna Hernandez.

There were extensive conversations about the schedule. The defendant was present during those conversations. The defendant was present when we penciled out the schedule of witnesses and what days we were going to be in session . . . [a]nd that court would always be in session at 9:00 and that Mr. Espinoza, his attorney and the D.A. were expected to be here at 8:45 every morning.

There were also discussions about witness availability and the timing of witnesses. Mr. Espinoza was present when we talked about the need for a[n] [Evidence Code section] 402 hearing on some of the witnesses; in fact, it was on the record. And that as those witnesses appeared, we would have to do a 402 hearing before they testified in front of the jury.

Also, the defendant was given the rules of court, and he was given a written copy of the rules of court. The first page of the rules of court, the very first rule says, "you must be in court every day at 8:45" and that sentence is underlined in my written rules of court. He read it, he highlighted it, he retained a copy of that so he knew he had to be here at 8:45.

The defendant was aware that the trial was not going to end on Tuesday of this week but that it would be in session on Wednesday and thereafter until completed.

So we are in a situation now that it's obvious that he didn't sleep in, that he purposefully abandoned the trial.

(11 RT 608-610.)

The court described the efforts made to contact appellant. The court requested the prosecutor to contact all people who might know appellant's whereabouts, and to provide any information to the police department, the district attorney's office, and the court itself. (11 RT 610.) At the court's recommendation, the prosecutor contacted the border patrol. (11 RT 611.) The police dispatched a surveillance team to appellant's home, as well as to other addresses where appellant might be located. (11 RT 611-612.) Neither appellant nor his vehicle was located. (11 RT 612.)

The courtroom bailiff also attempted to locate appellant. On April 25, 2012, the bailiff had called appellant's phone number and left messages. (11 RT 615.) The bailiff also called appellant's father. (11 RT 613.) A Spanish-speaking interpreter left a message on appellant's father's voicemail telling him to inform appellant that he was required to appear in court. (11 RT 613.) The bailiff also contacted appellant's workplace. (11 RT 613-614.) Appellant left no message for the court clerk. (11 RT 615.)

In light of appellant's disappearance, the court ruled: "So for all those reasons, the court finds the defendant[] has knowingly and voluntarily absented himself from the trial. We are going to proceed in absentia pursuant to Penal Code 1043 [presence of defendant at trial] and *People versus Connolly*" [proceeding in absence of defendant]. (11 RT 615.)

Before resuming trial, the court informed the jury: "It is clear that the defendant has not chosen to continue with this trial and the law provides if the defendant disappears in the middle of a trial we proceed without him. So we are going to do that at this time." (11 RT 624.)

D. Evidence and Further Trial Proceedings

The prosecution introduced the following evidence. Augustine Gonzalez lived for about four months in a rented room in appellant's house. (10 RT 511-512.) When Mr. Gonzalez moved in, appellant had shown him a pistol, which appellant said he kept under his pillow. (10 RT 520.) In early September 2009, Mr. Gonzalez told appellant that he was moving out, which caused "tension" and "every day . . . a verbal confrontation." (10 RT 526.) On September 3, 2009, Mr. Gonzalez found appellant had replaced the lock on the front door of the house. (10 RT 513; 11 RT 625.) The new lock was improperly installed, allowing Mr. Gonzalez to enter by pushing the door open. (10 RT 513.) Mr. Gonzales found appellant and appellant's girlfriend in the kitchen, and asked why appellant changed the lock. Appellant screamed, "[Y]ou don't live here" and asserted that Mr. Gonzalez could not prove otherwise. (10 RT 514-515.) Mr. Gonzalez yelled back and threatened to call the police. (10 RT 515.) Appellant replied, "Don't you know I'm connected. I'll hurt you. I'll kill you. Go ahead." (10 RT 516-517.) Scared, Mr. Gonzales backed away, but appellant charged and kept yelling. Mr. Gonzalez called the police, who directed him to leave appellant and go outside. (10 RT 516.) Appellant followed Mr. Gonzalez across the street, screaming, "I'm going to get you. I'm going to kick your ass, you're dead." (10 RT 518-519.) Appellant repeated, "If you call the police I am going to kill you. When I go to jail I'm going to come back out and I'm still going to kill you. I have family." (10 RT 519.) Recalling appellant had a handgun, Mr. Gonzales reported it to the dispatcher, who conveyed that fact to police officers. (10 RT 527; 11 RT 631, 670.)

The police arrived while appellant was still following Mr. Gonzalez, who was several houses away from appellant's residence. (10 RT 519.) The officers spoke to appellant and handcuffed him. (10 RT 521.) An

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