Frank A. McGuire Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA SEP 2 4 2015

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, Plaintiff and Respondent, v.))))	No. S224929	Deputy
ZEFERINO ESPINOZA, Jr.,)		
Defendant and Appellant.))		

Sixth Appellate District No. H039219 Sant Clara County Superior Court No. CC954850 The Honorable Paul Bernal, Judge

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

LAWRENCE A. GIBBS (SBN 98866) P.O. Box 7639 Berkeley, California 94707 Tel: (510) 525-6847 Email: lawgibbs@gmail.com

Attorney for Defendant/Appellant ZEFERINO ESPINOZA, Jr.

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. Violation of the Right to Counsel

When appellant failed to appear at trial, the trial court ordered the trial to proceed in his absence. The court acted pursuant to Penal Code section 1043, which permits the trial of a voluntarily absent defendant to proceed. But that statute only concerns the forfeiture of the defendant's right "to be personally present at the trial." (Pen. Code section 1043, subd. (a).) Section 1043 is silent on the question whether such trial may proceed without counsel for the defendant.

To answer this question, we must return to basic Sixth Amendment principles. The Sixth Amendment provides the right to assistance of counsel at all critical stages of a criminal prosecution. (*Powell v. Alabama* (1932) 287 U.S. 45.) A defendant may waive that right to counsel and choose to represent himself. (*Faretta v. California* (1975) 422 U.S. 806.) The right to self-representation, however, is subject to forfeiture, and can be terminated, if the defendant "deliberately engages in serious and obstructionist misconduct." (*Id.* at p. 834, fn. 46.) Where the right to self-representation has been terminated -- explicitly or impliedly -- counsel must be reappointed.

A self-representing defendant who declines to participate in the trial may, but does not necessarily, forfeit his right to self-representation. Where non-participation is a "conscious decision to simply force the prosecution to its proof," (*People v. Clark* (1992) 3 Cal.4th 41, 116), as where the self-

representing defendant vows to "stand mute" throughout trial, the defendant's right to control his own defense prevails and his right to self-representation is not subject to forfeiture. (*People v. Teron* (1979) 23 Cal.3d 103, 115.) In such a case, the defendant remains as counsel, and there is no right to, or need for, the appointment of additional counsel.

But where a defendant's non-participation is not a considered defense strategy, but "a deliberate course of action designed to cause as much disruption as possible," (*People v. Clark, supra*, 3 Cal.4th at p. 116), or "to interject error and delay into the proceedings," the right to self-representation is subject to forfeiture and trial court may revoke it. (*Id.*; *People v. Stansbury* (1993) 4 Cal.4th 1017, 1046.) Even in this situation, however, while the right to self-representation may be forfeited, the right to the assistance of counsel endures. Where the trial court revokes the appellant's right to self-representation, it must appoint counsel. The failure to do so is reversible error.

In the instant case, the trial court expressly found that the appellant's failure to appear (or "non-participation") was intended to obstruct and delay the trial. Appellant's right to self-representation was therefore subject to forfeiture.

And it was in fact terminated. The trial court clearly indicated its termination of appellant's *Faretta* right. The court did not permit appellant to control his defense through non-participation. Instead, throughout trial, the court took it upon itself to serve as appellant's counsel. As the trial court candidly explained, "I basically sat in defense counsel's seat to protect the

rights of the defendant." (13 RT 1029-1030.) The trial court's error in this case was in undertaking the appellant's representation itself, rather than appointing counsel for that task. And the public defender, who had been relieved only the previous day, was fully prepared to accept that reappointment could readily have picked up where he left off the day before.

The fact that appellant, in initially seeking self-representation, conditionally waived his right to counsel does not require a different result. In every case in which the defendant is granted the right to self-representation, the defendant necessarily waives the right to the assistance of counsel for as long as his right to self-representation endures. (*Faretta v. California* (1975) 422 U.S. 806, 835.) Yet, where the trial court revokes the right of self-representation, the courts agree that counsel must then be appointed. The rationale is plain: the initial waiver of the right to assistance of counsel was conditioned, implicitly or explicitly, upon the defendant's continued ability to represent himself. Once the court revokes the defendant's right to self-representation, the condition underlying the waiver of counsel ceases to exist, and the initial waiver is no longer effective. At that point, the Sixth Amendment requires the appointment of counsel.

The appointment of counsel was also required by state law. Once appellant's federal *Faretta* rights were terminated, appellant's right to proceed pro se became subject to state law. California does not recognize the right to self-representation, though it may be granted as a matter of discretion if the defendant meets standards of competence. In *People v. Johnson* (2010) 53 Cal.4th 519, 530, this Court held that trial courts have discretion to deny

self-representation to mentally ill defendants who "cannot carry out the basic tasks need to present the defense without the help of counsel." The trial court here failed to exercise its discretion under *Johnson*, at two points: first, when it granted appellant the right to self-representation; and second, when appellant failed to appear. Had the court exercised its discretion, it would have concluded that appellant did not meet the *Johnson* standard, and that the appointment of counsel was required.

Because appellant's trial proceeded without counsel, the judgment of the court of appeal should be affirmed.

II. Denial of One-Day Continuance

The State argues that it is not an abuse of discretion for the trial court to condition granting a *Faretta* motion on the granting of no continuances. The law is to the contrary. While the trial court may *deny* self-representation to a defendant who requires a continuance of the trial, the situation is different if the court *grants* the *Faretta* motion. In that case, "a necessary continuance must be granted if a motion for self-representation is granted" (*People v. Valdez* (32 Cal.4th 73, 103.) Here, because the trial court granted appellant the right to represent himself, it was obligated to grant him "a necessary continuance" to prepare. Under this standard, as the court of appeal properly held, denial of a one-day continuance was an abuse of discretion.

ARGUMENT

I. The Trial Of A Voluntarily Absent Pro Se Defendant, Who Has Forfeited His Right To Self-Representation, Cannot Proceed Without The Appointment of Counsel.

The court of appeal, and the State have assumed that, in determining whether a court must appoint counsel for an absent pro se defendant, the governing distinction is whether the defendant's absence is voluntary or involuntary. (See Typed Opn., at pp. 12-15; Op. Br. at pp. 24-28.) The State argues that appellant's voluntary absence from trial simply reflected appellant's decision to "conduct[] his defense by nonparticipation. A competent, self-representing defendant has a right to choose 'simply not to oppose the prosecution's case." (Op. Br. at p. 27, quoting *People v. Parento* (1991) 235 Cal.App.3d 1378, 1381.) That decision is consistent with the defendant's right of self-representation, and must be respected by the trial court. (Op. Br. at pp. 26-28.)

As explained below, the lower court and the parties have not fully understood the caselaw. The relevant distinction is not whether the pro se defendant's absence is voluntary or involuntary. While that distinction is relevant under Penal Code section 1043 for determining whether the defendant has forfeited his *right to be present and confront witnesses*, a different analysis governs with respect to a pro se defendant's *right to counsel*. The relevant question is whether the pro se defendant has forfeited his right to self-representation. If the right to self-representation has been forfeited, counsel must be appointed.

Further, as this Court's decisions make very clear, depending on the nature of the pro se defendant's absence, even a voluntarily non-participating pro se defendant can forfeit his right to self-representation. Here, while appellant's absence was voluntary, the trial court found that his absence was simply intended disrupt the trial. Appellant's right to self-representation was therefore subject to forfeiture, and the trial court terminated it. Once the right to self-representation was terminated, the trial court was obligated to appoint counsel.

A. Legal Principles

The Sixth Amendment provides the right to assistance of counsel at all critical stages of a criminal prosecution. (*Powell v. Alabama, supra*, 287 U.S. 45.) This right is automatic: "Where the assistance of counsel is a constitutional requisite, the right to be furnished counsel does not depend on a request." (*Carnley v. Cochran* (1962) 369 U.S. 506, 513.) A defendant may of course waive the right to counsel and choose to represent himself. (*Faretta v. California, supra*, 422 U.S. 806.) *Faretta* made it clear, however, that the right to self-representation can be forfeited by misbehavior. "The trial judge may terminate self-representation by a defendant who deliberately engages in serious and obstructionist misconduct." (*Id.* at p. 834, fn. 46.) *Faretta* further advised that "a State may – even over objection by the accused – appoint a 'standby counsel' ... to be available to representation is

necessary." (Id.)

The Supreme Court's suggestion in *Faretta* – that a state court might prepare for termination of a defendant's self-representation by having standby counsel available – makes an important distinction. While they are both rooted in the Sixth Amendment, the right to self-representation is distinct from the right to counsel. Thus, the forfeiture of self-representation does not entail forfeiture of the assistance of counsel. "A defendant does not forfeit his right to representation at trial when he acts out. He merely forfeits his right to represent himself in the proceeding." (*United States v. Mack* (9th Cir. 2004) 362 F.3d 597, 601; *Davis v. Grant* (2d Cir. 2008) 532 F.3d 132, 144, fn. 8.)

This issue has most commonly arisen in the context of the so-called "involuntary" removal from the courtroom of a misbehaving, pro se defendant.² Several California cases have confronted this fact pattern, and all have held that, while the misbehaving defendant forfeited his right to self-representation, he retained the right to the assistance of counsel thereafter. (*People v. Soukomlane* (2008) 162 Cal.App.4th 214; *People v. El* (2002) 102 Cal.App.4th 1047; *People v. Carroll* (1983) 140 Cal.App.3d 135.) In each of these cases, the appellate court found error in the trial court's failure to appoint counsel for the pro se defendant who had been removed from court.

² The term, "involuntary removal" is a misnomer. In each of these cases, the pro se defendant misbehaved, was warned by the trial court that further misconduct would result in expulsion, and the defendant voluntarily defied the court and continued his misconduct. The defendant's ejection from court was thus the product of his *voluntary* decision to defy the court.

The facts of *People v. Carroll* are typical. Carroll was granted the right to self-representation. However, he continually disrupted the proceedings. The trial court warned Carroll he would be removed if he continued his disruptions. Carroll continued his misconduct, and he was removed during the testimony of several witnesses. The court of appeal noted *Faretta's* admonition in footnote 46 of that opinion -- that forfeiture of the right to self-representation does not forfeit the right to representation by standby counsel. (*Id.* at pp. 142-143.) The court explained:

In this case, excluding defendant from the courtroom meant that certain parts of the People's case proceeded without the presence of the defendant, or counsel for the defense. Such a situation offends the most fundamental idea of due process of law, as defendant is totally deprived of presence at trial and even of knowledge of what has taken place. Because defendant represented himself, his removal from the courtroom deprived him not only of his own presence, but of legal representation.

(*Id.* at p. 141. See also *People v. El, supra*, 102 Cal.App.4th 1047, 1050 ["'Justice cannot be done' in one-sided criminal proceedings where neither defendant nor defense counsel is present."³]; *People v. Soukomlane, supra*, 162 Cal.App.4th at p. 234 [citing *Faretta's* footnote 46 for the proposition that the defendant's right to counsel survives forfeiture of the right of self-representation, and reversing where pro se defendant removed from courtroom and counsel not appointed to represent him in his absence].)

The vast majority of federal and sister-state courts to consider the

³ The court in *El* found the error in proceeding without counsel harmless in light of the brief time defendant was deprived of representation. (*People v. El, supra*, 102 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1050-1051.)

issue have similarly held that, when a defendant forfeits his right to self-representation, the right to counsel endures and the trial court must appoint counsel to represent and protect the defendant's interests. (E.g., *People v. Cohn* (Colo.Ct.App. 2007) 160 P.3d 336. 343 [holding that a misbehaving pro se defendant may forfeit his right to self-representation, but not the right to counsel in his absence]; *Saunders v. State* (Tex.App. 1985) 721 S.W.2d 359, 363-364 [finding error where misbehaving, pro se defendant was removed from courtroom but counsel was not appointed to represent him in his absence]; *State v. Menefee* (Or.App. 2014) 341 P.3d 229, 246 [finding violation of the right to counsel where court removed misbehaving pro se defendant, but did not secure defendant's waiver of his right to representation at trial or appoint counsel].)

While the State does not address or mention these so-called involuntary removal cases, it resists application of the principle announced in these cases on the ground that appellant's absence from the trial is materially different: The State notes that appellant's absence was the product of his voluntary departure, rather than the product of his voluntary disobedience of a court order and subsequent removal. The State claims that appellant's voluntary absence from trial simply reflected appellant's decision to "conduct[] his defense by nonparticipation." (Op. Br. at p. 27, quoting *People v. Parento* (1991) 235 Cal.App.3d 1378, 1381.) Put otherwise, because appellant chose to defend himself by the acceptable legal strategy of nonparticipation, his right to self-representation was not subject to forfeiture.

Hence, though absent from the trial, appellant remained as counsel.

However, the State entirely ignores a critical distinction this Court has made in determining whether a particular defendant's right to self-representation may be revoked. A self-representing defendant who declines to participate in the trial may, but does not necessarily, forfeit his right to self-representation.

People v. Clark (1992) 3 Cal.4th 41, 116, is the leading case. There, Clark had been initially represented by appointed counsel. On the day of trial, Clark moved for self-representation. The trial court denied the motion as untimely. The defendant renewed his motion before opening statements, but the court again denied it because Clark was not ready to proceed immediately with trial. On the fourth day of trial, Clark again moved to represent himself and told the court he was ready to proceed. The court granted defendant's Faretta motion, but ordered his appointed counsel to remain as standby counsel. After complaining that his trial preparation was being impeded, Clark requested additional resources, which were denied. Clark then vowed to "stand mute" throughout the trial. (Id. at pp. 91-95.) The trial court ruled that Clark thereby "had renounced his right to represent himself," terminated his Faretta rights, and ordered standby counsel reinstated. (Id. at pp. 96-97.)

After he was convicted, Clark appealed on the ground that the trial court erred by revoking his right of self-representation when he vowed to stand mute. This Court noted that "we have upheld cases in which the trial

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